FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/15/2020 4:17 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99121-9

Appellate Court No. 52586-1-II

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PHYLLIS COOLEN as Personal Representative of the Estate of PATRICK COOLEN, and Individually as Surviving Spouse,

Petitioner,

v.

GROUP HEALTH COOPERATIVE,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Ron Meyers WSBA No. 13169 Matthew Johnson WSBA No. 37597 Tim Friedman WSBA No. 37983 Attorneys for Petitioner

> Ron Meyers & Associates, PLLC 8765 Tallon Ln. NE, Suite A Olympia, WA 98516 (360) 459-5600

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is PHYLLIS COOLEN as Personal Representative of

the Estate of PATRICK COOLEN, and Individually as Surviving Spouse.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Division II Court of Appeals opinion, Coolen v. Grp. Health Coop.,

52586-1-II, 2020 WL 4784849 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 18, 2020). The Motion

for Reconsideration was denied on September 15, 2020.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Appellate Court err by (a) excluding the Plaintiff from introducing any evidence of Defendant's failure to provide Patrick Coolen informed consent and (b) removing Plaintiff's cause of action for informed consent and (c) not instructing the jury on informed consent? YES.

2. Did the Appellate Court err by (a) removing Plaintiff's corporate negligence cause of action at trial and (b) not instructing the jury on corporate negligence? YES.

3. Did the Appellate Court err by (a) removing the Plaintiff's shared decision-making cause of action at trial and (b) not instructing the jury on shared decision-making? YES.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

The Appellate Court's decision conflicts with this Court's decisions

in Gates v. Jensen, 92 Wash. 2d 246, 595 P.2d 919,(1979), Backlund v. Univ.

of Washington, 137 Wash. 2d 651, 975 P.2d 950 (1999), Osborn v. Public

Hospital Dist. I, Grant County, 80 Wn.2d 201, 492 P.2d 1025 (1972),

Pedroza v. Bryant, 101 Wash. 2d 226, 229, 677 P.2d 166 (1984), Douglas v.

Freeman, 117 Wash. 2d 242, 253, 814 P.2d 1160 (1991). The issues in this petition are of substantial public interest, as they affect patient rights.

INFORMED CONSENT

A. A protein-specific-antigen test is a simple, risk-free screening for a life-threatening cancer.

Prostate specific antigen ("PSA") is protein made by cells that line the prostate. A process for diagnosing **prostate cancer** is to conduct a PSA test and then a biopsy. A PSA test is a simple blood test that can pick up if PSA is leaking into the blood. *VRP 129*.

If the PSA level is elevated, one of the only three conditions it could possibly be is prostate cancer. *id.* Conducting a PSA test is the first step to ruling out prostate cancer – as you don't biopsy without a PSA. *VRP 181*.

B. GH never ruled out prostate cancer as a diagnosis.

On September 13, 2010, Patrick Coolen presented to Group Health Cooperative ("GH") with complaints of a few months of urinary frequency/urge, some urethral discomfort and an urge to urinate about every hour while awake. *VRP 132*. He was found to have an enlarged prostate. *id*.

GH failed to discuss with Mr. Coolen the potential of having cancerous tissue as part of the enlargement of the prostate. GH did not have any discussion with Mr. Coolen informing him of the alternative diagnostic procedure (PSA testing and biopsy) that would rule in-or-out prostate cancer. Dr. Peter Bretan, a Urologist, Transplant Surgeon and the President of the California Urological Association, testified that to make a complete diagnosis, prostate cancer screening by way of PSA should be performed. *VRP 134-135.* Dr. Bretan testified that Mr. Coolen had classic prostate irritation and deserved **diagnosis and follow-up**. *VRP 106, 134, 219*.

PSA testing is part of the "alternative diagnostic procedures" about which GH was required to inform Mr. Coolen. PSA testing is the precursor to a biopsy and diagnosis. "[N]ot do that [PSA] test at that time or at least talk to him [Mr. Coolen] and say that's part of the workup" failed to meet the standard of care. *Dr. Staben testimony at VRP 255:21-256:5-18*.

C. The failure to rule in or out a diagnosis of prostate cancer is fundamental to an informed consent cause of action.

A PSA test and biopsy are **part of the procedure for arriving at a conclusive diagnosis** in the face of the urinary conditions and enlarged prostate Mr. Coolen presented with in 2010. *See above*.

Mr. Coolen had abnormal conditions putting him at high risk for prostate cancer. There were diagnostic procedures that existed to determine the presence or absence of prostate cancer (PSA followed by a biopsy). *VRP 118-119, 120-121, 131, 133-134, 143, 214, 267, 269-270, 272-273, 304-305.* Mr. Coolen could have made, had he been informed.

GH deprived Mr. Coolen of the information pertaining to available

alternative procedures that could have been taken and that he could have chosen to undergo to obtain a diagnosis. GH failed to inform Mr. Coolen with the information necessary for him to make a life-saving decision pertaining to the work-up of his condition.

This is based on and supported by the evidence that was presented to the jury at trial. See Dr. Staben testimony at VRP 256:5-18, and VRP 266:14-18, and VRP 267:1-6, and VRP 267:22-268:1, and VRP 268:4-10, and VRP 269:21-270 __, and VRP 273, and VRP 270, and VRP 304-305. See Dr. Bretan testimony at VRP 118.

Mr. Coolen was going to leave the September 13, 2010 GH office visit thinking that his urinary problems are caused by alcohol, caffeine, and a benign enlargement of his prostate, and he was not going to go home with the fact that this could be cancer, because that was not documented **or discussed** on that visit. *See Dr. Staben testimony at VRP 272-273.* "[,,,] he never had a PSA done, ever." *Dr. Staben testimony at VRP 263.*

D. The failure to inform Mr. Coolen was fatal.

GH's failure to present Mr. Coolen with critical information of procedures to lead to a diagnosis was fatal to Mr. Coolen. This is supported by the evidence at trial. *See e.g. VRP 121, 136, 138, 139-140, 143, 184, 225*.

Dr. Bretan testified that, "I think this is something that should have

been done, could have been done, low toxicity, and it would have ended up with Mr. Coolen still alive today." [bold added]. *VRP 225:8-11*. The PSA test to screen for prostate cancer was not offered to Mr. Coolen when the disease was confined to his prostate and he was symptom-free, and thus when it was in a very curable state if it was found at that time. *See Dr. Bretan testimony at VRP 118*.

The standard of care for working up this problem would be to do a PSA test. *Dr. Staben testimony at VRP 269.* When the cancer was curable GH failed to inform Mr. Coolen of the additional procedure (PSA and biopsy) as part of the process for obtaining a diagnosis (to rule in/out cancer).

E. The Superior Court removed the informed consent cause of action. The Appellate Court affirmed.

The trial court incorrectly excluded the informed consent cause of action and failed to instruct the jury on informed consent. *VRP 9.10.18, 59-60; VRP 830; CP 2275-2296.* The Court applied the *Backlund* rule to this case, even though this case falls directly within the exception set forth in *Backlund v. Univ. of Washington,* 137 Wash. 2d 651, 659, 975 P.2d 950 (1999). The Appellate Court affirmed.

SHARED DECISION MAKING

A. The Superior Court failed to instruct the jury on shared decision making. The Appellate Court affirmed. The trial court also failed to instruct the jury on shared decision making. See CP 2275-2296; VRP 1394-1395. The Appellate Court affirmed.

The evidence supported the giving of the shared decision making instruction. *See e.g. VRP* 331:23-332:4; *455:15-19; 485:15-16.* GH admitted that shared decision-making in screening improves outcome. *VRP* 487.

CORPORATE NEGLIGENCE

The trial court denied GH's CR 50 motion at the end of Coolen's case-in-chief (*VRP 833, 834*), but on the last day of trial the court removed Coolen's corporate negligence cause of action and failed to give any corporate negligence jury instructions. *VRP 1361-1368; CP 2275-2296*. The Appellate Court affirmed.

A. GH failed to exercise reasonable care to adopt policies and procedures for men's prostate health.

At trial, GH was asked: "Does Group Health have any men's health policies for prostate cancer" and GHC answered: "We do not." *VRP 577*. The court stopped the jury from deciding if GH's failure to adopt a single policy or procedure pertaining to the entire subject of men's prostate health breached GH's duty to exercise reasonable care to adopt policies and procedures for health care of its patients pursuant to *Osborne, id,* and WAC 246-320-226. The trial court misapplied the law and removed Coolen's corporate negligence claim against GH. The Appellate Court affirmed.

B. GH failed to exercise reasonable care to periodically monitor and review the competency of its providers.

At trial, GH's admitted that GH does not put in place any system, any audit, or any control regarding whether GH's providers were actually giving patients information about prostate cancer and PSA testing. *VRP 534-536*.

Dr. Bretan's testimony established that corporations need to implement tracking of physicians, using an electronic medical record system, and inform physicians of monitoring to get compliance. *VRP 222:1-7*.

There was evidence before the jury to allow the jury to find that GH's failure to put in place any policy, procedure, system, audit, or control that would **monitor** whether GH's providers were actually implementing preestablished patient care guidelines relative to prostate cancer, caused Mr. Coolen's death. *See e.g. VRP 139-140 VRP 222.*

Failure to screen and implement an electronic medical record tracking of physicians was evidence of "failure to monitor" under corporate negligence. *See Dr. Bretan testimony at VRP 221:23-25; 222:1-7.*

GH's failure to supervise and monitor its doctors resulted in GH failing to inform Mr. Coolen of PSA testing at a time when it would have saved his life. *VRP 608*. Dr. Bretan testified that "All I know is, more likely than not, greater than 50 percent chance of having it confined in 2010. [...] And then it basically grew out of the prostate and became metastatic, as we saw it in 2014. [...] The earliest that you could estimate that he could have still been saved would possibly be early 2013, late 2012." *VRP 142-143*.

IV ARGUMENT

INFORMED CONSENT/SHARED DECISION MAKING

The Appellate Court's ruling conflicts with this Court's rulings in Gates, *id*, Backlund, *id* and *Gomez v. Sauerwein*, 180 Wash. 2d 610, 623, 331 P.3d 19 (2014). These issues are of substantial public interest because they affects patient rights. This Petition is pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1)(2)and(4).

Whether GH obtained informed consent is not the issue on this appeal. That question should have been for the jury to decide, but the lower court incorrectly excluded Coolen's informed consent cause claim based on its incorrect conclusion that the *Backlund* rule applied. This case falls directly within the exception set forth in *Backlund v. Univ. of Washington*, 137 Wash. 2d 651, 975 P.2d 950 (1999), which derives from Gates, *id*.

The *Baklund* rule is that a provider cannot be liable for failure to inform in a misdiagnosis case. There is an exception to this rule. The *Backlund* case states: "There are situations where a provider could be liable for failure to inform without negligence. The most obvious example would be a provider who knows about two alternative treatments but informs the patient of only one treatment, which is subsequently performed perfectly." *Id at* 619.

The exception applies here. GH failed to inform Mr. Coolen as to alternative procedures (PSA testing followed by biopsy) that could have been

taken to rule in or out prostate cancer. The facts of this case drive directly through the opening left by this Court in *Backlund* to maintain *both* a failure to diagnose cause of action and an informed consent cause of action.

In *Gomez v. Sauerwein*, 180 Wash. 2d 610, 623, 331 P.3d 19, 25 (2014), the Supreme Court held that when a health care provider **rules out** a particular diagnosis based on the circumstances surrounding a patient's condition, including the patient's own reports, there is no duty to inform the patient on treatment options pertaining to a ruled out diagnosis.

In Coolen's case, GH **never ruled out prostate cancer** as a diagnosis. GH claimed his condition was "benign prostatic hyperplasia". Because GH did not share information with and inform Mr. Coolen of the option and existence of procedures to determine a prostate cancer diagnosis, Coolen did not know if his condition was "benign".

Gates v. Jensen, 92 Wash. 2d 246, 595 P.2d 919, (1979) illustrates a situation not excluded by the "*Backlund* rule". In *Gates*, this Court stated, "Important decisions must frequently be made in many non-treatment situations in which medical care is given, including procedures **leading to** a diagnosis, [...]." [bold added]. *Gates*, at 250-251. "These decisions must all be taken with the full knowledge and participation of the patient." *Id at 251*.

"Under Gates, there may be instances where the duty to inform arises

during the diagnostic process, [...]" [bold added]. *Gomez, id.*, at 623. The determining factor is whether the **process of diagnosis** presents an informed decision for the patient to make about his or her care. *id.*

Backlund, id., does not stand for a blanket abolition of an informed consent action where failure to diagnose is also pursued. Rather, *Backlund* confirms that *Gates, id,* is an exception with regard to the overlap between medical negligence and informed consent. *See Gomez, id.* at 626.

1. The appellate Court's attempt to distinguish this case from *Gates* is a distortion of *Gates*.

The Appellate Court attempts to distinguish this case from *Gates*, *id.*, by: (a) determining that a PSA test is not conclusive - *Opinion*, *at 18*; (b) determining that "Patrick's providers informed him on several occasions that he had two methods available for prostate cancer screening, a DRE and a PSA." - *id*, *at 19*; © determining that a PSA test is not risk free. - *id*, *at 18*; and (d) determining that here a DRE was performed in 2009 and 2010 Gates "[r]eceived no screening at all for glaucoma" - *id at 19*.

The Appellate Court's ruling conflicts with and misconstrues *Gates*, *id.* In *Gates*, *id.*, the Supreme Court rejected conclusiveness as a requirement: "The patient's right to know is not confined to the choice of treatment once a disease is present and has been conclusively diagnosed." *Gates*, *id.*, *at* 250. The Supreme Court proceeded to note that "Important decisions must frequently be made in many non-treatment situations in which medical care is given, including **procedures leading to a diagnosis**, as in this case." [bold added]. *id.*, at 250–51.

The physician's duty is to provide information needed in order to make an informed choice regarding the course which the patient's medical care will take. *See Gates, id., at* 250. A patient must know of an abnormal condition in one's body, the presence of a high risk of disease, **and the existence of alternative diagnostic "procedures"** to conclusively determine the presence or absence of that disease in order to make an informed decision on the course which future medical care will take. *id., at* 251.

"The facts which must be disclosed are all those facts the physician knows or should know which the patient needs in order to make the decision. To require less would be to deprive the patient of the capacity to choose the course his or her life will take." *Gates, id., at* 251.

"Less" is what occurred in the present case. The lower court attempts to distinguish *Gates, id.,* by noting that, "Patrick's providers informed him on several occasions that he had two methods available for prostate cancer screening, a DRE and a PSA." *Opinion, at 19.* This is inconsistent with the relevant facts in this case. *For example, see Dr. Staben testimony at VRP* 267, and Dr. Bretan's testimony at VRP 118. The Appellate Court steps into a fact-finder role when it states that, "A PSA test is known for its risk of false positives and overtreatment." *Opinion, at 19.* That would only be correct if the Appellate Court gave no weight to conflicting evidence at trial (e.g. Dr. Bretan's testimony that a PSA test is "far more sensitive and accurate" compared to a DRE. *VRP 138.* and Dr. Bretan's testimony that **the way** Urologists, find this localized prostate cancer in this setting is to have a discussion and order PSA, "[...] in this exact same setting." *VRP 121.*

The Appellate Court's attempt to distinguish *Gates., id.,* (when the COA determined that a PSA test is not risk free) is inconsistent with the GH speaking agent's admission that the harm of a PSA test is trivial. *VRP 491.* A PSA test is a very simple, quick test – a simple screening for a life-threatening cancer. *See Dr. Bretan testimony at VRP 129-130.*

The Appellate Court's fourth attempted distinction of *Gates., id.,* inconsistent with the relevant facts in *Gates, id.* In *Gates, id,* "Dr. Hargiss examined Mrs. Gates' optic nerves with a direct ophthalmoscope to determine whether the discs, or surfaces, of the nerves showed the exacerbated "cupping" which is characteristic of glaucoma." *Gates, id, at* 247. Shortly after Gates' first visit, "Dr. Hargiss made another pressure reading and found pressures in both eyes to be within the high range of normal." *id., at* 248. The Supreme Court also noted that other evidence tended to show Dr. Harris "complied with the applicable professional standard of care by examining Mrs. Gates' optic nerve discs with a direct ophthalmoscope." *id., at* 253.

Here, the Appellate Court asserts that "Neither provider [who performed the DREs in 2009 and 2010] thought that Patrick had prostate cancer after performing the DRE." *Opinion, at 19.* This is analogous to *Gates, id,* where after examining Gates and performing tests, Dr. Hargriss "[c]ould see no evidence of abnormality and made no further tests for glaucoma." *Gates, id., at* 247. Dr. Hargriss diagnosed Gates problem as difficulties with the contact lenses she wore. *id, at* 248.

Despite those facts, the Supreme Court noted in *Gates, id,* that there was evidence at trial that if glaucoma had been detected when Gates first visited the Eye Clinic, the condition could have been stabilized and a great part of her vision saved. *id., at* 250.

Here, the Appellate Court contends that the duty to obtain informed consent does not arise whenever the provider becomes aware of a bodily abnormality which may indicate risk or danger but rather turns on whether or not the diagnosis has been completed.

In Coolen's case, the diagnosis had not been completed. The standard in working up Mr. Coolen's condition, given his presented conditions, was to perform a PSA (and then biopsy) – which is a critical part of the diagnostic process. Dr. Bretan opined that if GHC had given Mr. Coolen PSA testing in 2010, that would have "absolutely" provided a basis for further evaluation between 2010 and 2014. *VRP 121*. PSA testing should have been done, could have been done, is low toxicity, and it would have saved Mr. Coolen's life. *See Dr. Bretan testimony at VRP 225:8-11*.

The Appellate Court cites Gomez, id, for the proposition that there is no duty to inform the patient of treatment options for a ruled out diagnosis. This is wrong because **GH never ruled out** prostate cancer as a diagnosis.

A PSA test is directly on point with the types of patient-decisions this Court in *Gates, id.,* recognized as important and to be taken with full knowledge and participation of the patient.

Important decisions must frequently be made in many non-treatment situations in which medical care is given, including procedures leading to a diagnosis, as in this case. These decisions must all be taken with the full knowledge and participation of the patient.

Gates, id., at 250-51.

Just as here, where GH made a non-prostate cancer diagnosis (BPH), in *Gates, id*, the doctor gave a non-glaucoma diagnosis (difficulties with the contact lenses Gates wore.) *id., at* 248. Despite having made that diagnosis, the Supreme Court held that the trial court erred in refusing the requested jury instruction regarding informed consent. *See Gates, id., at* 251. The Supreme Court held, "It is respondents' contention, however, that the doctrine of informed consent does not apply to questions of appropriate diagnostic procedures and the requested instruction was properly rejected. **We do not agree**." [bold added]. *id, at* 250.

Here, the Court of Appeals also stated, "Under RCW 7.70.060, "shared decision making" is a means of fulfilling the duty to obtain informed consent."

CORPORATE NEGLIGENCE

The Appellate Court's ruling conflicts with Osborn v. Public Hospital Dist. I, Grant County, 80 Wn.2d 201, 492 P.2d 1025 (1972), Bennett v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 95 Wash. 2d 531, 533, 627 P.2d 104, 105 (1981), Pedroza v. Bryant, 101 Wash. 2d 226, 229, 677 P.2d 166 (1984), and Douglas v. Freeman, 117 Wash. 2d 242, 253, 814 P.2d 1160 (1991). This issue also is of substantial public interest because it affects patient rights. This Petition is made pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b)(1)(2)and(4).

"Hospitals are in a superior position to monitor and control physician performance." *Pedroza id., at* 231. The Supreme Court adopted corporate negligence in *Pedroza, id,* and held that doing so was consistent with the *Pederson* and *Osborn, id,* decisions. Quoting Koen, a Rutgers Law Review article, the Washington Supreme Court stated in *Pedroza, id.:* Early detection also enables the hospital to institute informal procedures which may adequately correct a problem before more formal sanctions are necessary.

[Bold added]. *Pedroza, id.,* at 232. The Supreme Court determined that, "[**t**]he doctrine is justified by the policy reasons already discussed." [Bold added]. *id., at 233.* The underlying purpose for the duty of care under corporate negligence is patient safety and welfare. *id.,* at 236.

A. Corporate Negligence is distinct from medical malpractice.

Here, the Appellate Court commingles corporate negligence with a claim under chapter 7.70 RCW. Corporate negligence and medical malpractice are different theories of liability based on different standards of care. *See Douglas, id., at 253.*

Neither the enacting of chapter 7.70 RCW nor the 1985 amendment to RCW 70.41.180 (on both of which the Appellate Court relies) hinder Coolen's corporate negligence claim and more specifically GH's duty under WAC 246-320-226 to adopt patient care policies and procedures designed to guide staff that address criteria for patient admission to general and specialized service areas, use of preestablished patient care guidelines or protocols and discharge planning.

The amendment to RCW 70.41.180 in 1985 pertains to "professional services rendered by any physician" -- while the requirements under WAC

246-320-226 to adopt policies and procedures govern and apply to **hospitals**. Corporate negligence is a legal theory against GH, not its physicians.

GH's liability is based on a duty of care owed by the institution directly to patients to ensure their safety and welfare while within its confines. *See Pedroza, id.*, at 236.

In *Douglas, id.,* the Supreme Court noted that in *Schoening v. Grays Harbor Comm'ty Hosp.,* 40 Wash.App. 331, 698 P.2d 593, review denied, 104 Wash.2d 1008 (1985), a plaintiff's settlement with doctors did not relieve the hospital of liability because the **hospital could still** be liable for any breach of its **separate duties** owed to plaintiff. *See Douglas, id., at* 252–253.

B. *Douglas* did not create an exhaustive list of duties.

The Appellate Court states that to the extent *Osborn, id.,* held that chapter 70.41 RCW may establish a health care institution's duty of care, *Osborn's* logic does not survive the Supreme Court's express adoption of corporate negligence in *Douglas,* which listed other specific duties but not the duty to establish policies and procedures for patient care. *Opinion, at 11.* Respectfully, this is incorrect.

Corporate negligence was not adopted in the *Douglas* case, it was expressly adopted seven years earlier in *Pedroza, id* at page 233. In *Douglas, id.*, when this Court documented four duties for corporate negligence, it was not creating an exhaustive list of duties. For example, the duty of the hospital to intervene in the pattern jury instruction was adopted in *Schoening v. Grays Harbor Cmty. Hosp., 40 Wash. App.* 331 698 P.2d 593 (1985), and discussed in *Alexander v. Gosner,* 42 Wash. App. 234, 240, 711 P.2d 347 (1985).

In Schoening, id., the Appellate Court held, "Under the cases cited, the hospital clearly has a duty to monitor the treatment of its patients and intervene if there is obvious negligence." *id.*, at 335. In *Alexander, id.*, the Court stated: "Corporate negligence has been extended to include placing a duty on the hospital to "intervene in the treatment of its patients if there is obvious negligence"." *id.*, *quoting* the *Schoening*, *id*, *case*. *Douglas*, *id.*, did not overturn *Osborn*, *Schoening or Alexander*, *id*.

In *Douglas, id.,* when this Court referenced four corporate negligence duties, it did so in the context of noting what one commentary found (a law review article). *See Douglas, id.,* at 248. This is not an exhaustive list. For example, the duty to exercise reasonable care to adopt policies and procedures is not specifically listed in *Douglas,* but, "[i]s discussed in *Osborn v. Public Hospital Dist. I, Grant County,* 80 Wn.2d 201, 492 P.2d 1025 (1972)." *See comment to WPI 105.02.02.*

C. Statutes and Regulations addressing specific men's prostate policies are not required.

The Appellate Court asserts that: "[...] Phyllis presented no evidence that any regulation imposed an obligation on Group Health to adopt *specific* policies and procedures relating to *particular methods* for diagnosing, screening, or treating prostate cancer or any other illness, which is what Phyllis claims Group Health failed to do. *Opinion, at 12.* That is conflicts with *Osborne, id.*, and the corporate negligence jury instruction that flows from *Osborne, id.* It conflicts because GH's conduct with respect to adopting policies and procedures is not dependent on specifics and particulars, but is measured against "reasonable care." The jury should have been permitted to decide if adopting zero policies and procedures pertaining to the entire subject of men's prostate health breached its duty to exercise reasonable care to adopt policies and procedures for health care of its patients pursuant to *Osborne, id,* and WAC 246-320-226.

The GH speaking agent admitted that it did not have **any** men's health policies for prostate cancer. *VRP 577*. The exercise of reasonable care in a negligence action is a question of fact for the jury. *Gordon v. Deer Park Sch. Dist. No. 414*, 71 Wash. 2d 119, 122, 426 P.2d 824 (1967)

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