FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/16/2020 1:52 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 99121-9

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PHYLLIS COOLEN,

Petitioner,

VS.

GROUP HEALTH COOPERATIVE,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Patrick C. Sheldon, WSBA #11398 Jeffrey T. Kestle, WSBA #29648 Natalie A. Heineman, WSBA#50157 FORSBERG & UMLAUF, P.S. 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1400 Seattle, WA 98164 (206) 689-8500

Attorneys for Respondent

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Mrs. Coolen cites RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) in seeking review of the affirmance of the trial court's rulings that kept the informed consent and corporate negligence claims from the jury. However, Division II's decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2), and the decision does not involve any interest of substantial public importance so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), Mrs. Coolen's Petition for Review should be denied.

A. <u>Division II's Affirmance of the Trial Court's Order Granting Group Health's Motion in Limine Regarding Mrs. Coolen's Informed Consent Claim Is Not in Conflict with Any Decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals</u>

Mr. Coolen argues that Division II's affirmance of the trial court's motion in limine ruling that kept the informed consent claim from the jury conflicts with *Gates v. Jensen*, 92 Wn.2d 246, 595 P.2d 919 (1979); *Backlund v. Univ. of Washington*, 137 Wn.2d 651, 975 P.2d 950 (1999); and *Anaya Gomez v. Sauerwein*, 180 Wn.2d 610, 331 P.3d 19 (2014). *Pet.* at 8-15. She incorrectly argues that those decisions prohibit negligent misdiagnosis and informed consent claims based on the same set of facts only where a medical provider "rules out a particular diagnosis based on the circumstances surrounding a patient's condition," and that here Group Health "never ruled out prostate cancer as a diagnosis."

Division II's decision is not in conflict with *Gates*, *Backlund*, and *Anaya Gomez*. *See Slip*. *Op*. at 16-20. As this Court ruled in *Backlund*, 137 Wn.2d at 661:

A physician who misdiagnoses the patient's condition, and is therefore unaware of an appropriate category of treatments or treatment alternatives, may properly be the subject to a negligence action where such misdiagnosis breaches the standard of care, but may not be subject to an action based on failure to secure informed consent.

"In misdiagnosis cases, this rule is necessary to avoid imposing double liability on the provider for the same alleged misconduct." *Anaya Gomez*, 180 Wn.2d at 618 (citing *Backlund*, 137 Wn.2d at 661-62 n.2).

In Anaya Gomez, this Court affirmed a Division III decision upholding the dismissal of a lack of informed consent claim. After specifically noting that "[i]nformed consent and medical negligence are distinct claims that apply in different situations," the court concluded that "[t]he doctrine of informed consent has been distinguished from malpractice as applying to fundamentally different situations," noting the Backlund ruling. Id. at 617-618. The physician determined the blood culture for yeast was a false positive based on the patient's presentation and history, and there was "nothing further to diagnose" with the information available. Id. at 622. This Court concluded: "[t]his is a misdiagnosis case. Accordingly, the Backlund rule applies and the trial court properly dismissed the informed consent claim as a matter of law." Id. at 623.

In *Anaya Gomez*, after learning that the patient who had initially presented complaining of a urinary tract infection was feeling better, the physician did not inform the patient, who had uncontrolled diabetes that made her susceptible to infections, of a concerning lab result he received suggesting a yeast infection of the blood because, given the improvement

in her condition, he concluded that the lab result was most likely a false positive due to contamination rather than reliable evidence of a very dangerous infection. *Id.* at 613-14. The physician moved up the patient's next appointment, but when the patient's condition worsened, she returned to the hospital, where she was diagnosed with a rare yeast infection in the blood that caused fungal sepsis and death. *Id.* at 614-15.

The patient's husband proceeded to trial against the physician on both medical negligence and failure to obtain informed consent claims, but at the close of the husband's case the trial court, concluding that this was a medical negligence failure to diagnose case and not an informed consent case, dismissed the informed consent claim. *Id.* at 614-15. This Court affirmed, agreeing that "[o]n one set of facts the two theories are mutually exclusive" – either the physician "knew" the patient had a yeast infection, "giving rise to the failure to inform claim," or "he failed to know she had a yeast infection, giving rise to the negligence claim." *Id.* at 619.

The Court rejected the husband's claim that providers must inform patients "of all positive test results," recognizing "the importance of taking the patient's condition into account while making a diagnosis" and that lab tests are just "one tool among many that a health care provider uses to form a diagnosis." *Id.* "[T]he duty to disclose does *not* arise 'whenever [the provider] becomes aware of a bodily abnormality which may indicate

risk or danger' ... but rather turns on whether or not 'the diagnosis has been completed." *Id.* at 620 n.4 (emphasis in original) (quoting five-justice concurrence/dissent in *Keogan v. Holy Family Hosp.*, 95 Wn.2d 306, 329, 622 P.2d 1246 (1980)). The *Anaya Gomez c*ourt concluded as a matter of law that the husband could only state a cause of action for medical negligence based on the failure to diagnose. *Anaya Gomez*, 180 Wn.2d at 623.

Like the claims in *Anaya Gomez*, Mrs. Coolen's claims in this case are mutually exclusive – either Group Health knew Mr. Coolen had cancer (giving rise to an informed consent claim), or it failed to diagnose the condition (giving rise to a medical negligence claim). The factual allegations here only support a medical negligence cause of action. This conclusion in supported primarily by *Backlund* and *Anaya Gomez*.

In relying on *Gates*, Mrs. Coolen ignores what the *Anaya Gomez* Court had to say about it. While the Court in *Anaya Gomez*, citing *Gates*, 92 Wn.2d at 250-51, recognized that "[i]n certain circumstances [it had] held that the right to informed consent can include the process of diagnosis," it also recognized that *Gates* predated RCW 7.70.050's codification of informed consent and its clear use of the word "treatment." *Anaya Gomez*, 180 Wn.2d at 617. Also, the *Anaya Gomez* Court recognized that "[t]he *Gates* court allowed the informed consent claim

based on a unique set of facts," *id.* at 623, that "*Backlund* clarifies that *Gates* is the exception and not the rule with regard to the overlap between medical negligence and informed consent, and that "[g]iven the unique factual situation in *Gates*, it is unlikely we will ever see such a case again." *Id.* at 626.

This case does not involve the unique factual situation presented in Gates. Here, Mr. Coolen had discussions regarding prostate screening procedures—and the controversy surrounding them—with his Group Health providers in 2003, 2006, and 2009. In 2010, PA Rogers from Group Health diagnosed Mr. Coolen with BPH, a condition shared by half of all men his age. VRP 167. PA Rogers ordered a urinalysis and blood test, recommended reduction of caffeine and alcohol and indicated he should return for follow up if he had continuing or worsening symptoms. Over the next 18 months, Mr. Coolen visited Group Health six times, and never complained of continuing or worsening urinary or lower back symptoms. Mrs. Coolen's urology expert, Dr. Bretan, agreed with the following statement from the American Urological Association regarding treatment of patients with BPH: "[I]f the symptoms are not significantly bothersome or if the patient does not want treatment, no further evaluation is recommended. The patient should be reassured and be seen again if necessary. This recommendation is based on the opinion that patients with non-bothersome lower urinary tract symptoms are unlikely to experience significant health problems in the future due to their condition." VRP 176-177.

PA Rogers diagnosed Mr. Coolen with a common condition that the American Urological Association concluded was unlikely to cause significant health problems in the future. She properly advised him to follow up if the symptoms continued or worsened. To the extent Mrs. Coolen claimed Group Health's providers failed to "follow up" regarding additional testing, the *Anaya Gomez* Court recognized that such a duty to "follow up" is only relevant to a medical negligence claim.

Division II's affirmance of the trial court's order keeping Mrs. Coolen's informed consent claim from the jury was consistent with *Backlund*, *Gates*, and *Anaya Gomez*.

B. The Court of Appeals' Affirmance of the Trial Court's Decision Not to Instruct the Jury on Mrs. Coolen's Corporate Negligence Claim Is Not in Conflict with Any Decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals

1. Claim Regarding Failure to Adopt Policies and Procedures

Division II correctly determined that having a specific policy regarding prostate screening is not a cognizable corporate negligence duty. There is no basis under RAP 13.4 for review of its decision.

Mrs. Coolen argues that Division II's affirmance of the trial court's decision not to instruct the jury on corporate negligence conflicts with *Douglas v. Freeman*, 117 Wn.2d 242, 814 P.2d 1160 (1991), but she acknowledged in her appeal to Division II that *Douglas* "does not impose a duty to adopt policies and procedures." *Slip Op.* at 10.

Mrs. Coolen argues that RCW 70.41.030 required Group Health to adopt policies and procedures regarding prostate screening. Division II correctly determined that chapter 7.70 "created the exclusive statutory claim for medical negligence" and RCW 70.41.180 "prevent[s] [DSHS] from establishing standards for physicians." *Slip Op.* at 11. No decision from this Court or the Court of Appeals holds otherwise.

Finally, Mrs. Coolen argues that WAC 246-320-226 imposed a duty on Group Health to adopt particular policies for screening prostate cancer. Division II correctly determined that the administrative rule "says nothing about 'a hospital's . . . obligation to establish policies and procedures with respect to a *particular* area of care,' such as prostate cancer screening." *Slip Op.* at 12. Again, no decision from this Court or the Court of Appeals holds otherwise.

2. Claim Regarding Duty to Monitor and Review Providers

Division II correctly affirmed the trial court's decision not to instruct the jury on Mrs. Coolen's claim that Group Health failed to adequately monitor and review its providers because Mrs. Coolen presented no evidence of proximate cause. The decision conflicts with no decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals.

VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

None of the grounds for acceptance of review under RAP 13.4 exist in this case. The Petition for Review should be denied.

Respectfully submitted this 16th day of November, 2020.

FORSBERG & UMLAUF, P.S.

By:

Patrick C. Sheldon, WSBA #11398 Jeffrey T. Kestle, WSBA #29648 Natalie A. Heineman, WSBA#50157 Attorneys for Respondent

Abo T father